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Appendix ;

NOTICE OF VIOLATION
,

,

Commonwealth Edison Company Docket No. 50-373 |
Docket No. 50-374

As'a result of the inspection conducted on May 9, 13-14, May 20-22, and May 24,
1985, and in accordance with the General Policy and Procedures for NRC
Enforcement Actions, (10 CFR Part 2 Appendix C), the following violation was
identified:

10CFR50.55a(g)requiresthatlicenseesimplementaninservicetesting ;

program for pumps and valves per the requirements of Section XI of the i

ASME Code unless specific relief has been granted by the Commission. :

Subsection IWP-4510 Table IWP-3100-2, and Subsection IWP-4160 of Section
XI of the ASME Code states in part, that vibration amplitude be measured, ;

trended and analyzed per the criteria delineated in the referenced table !

and that provisions shall be made to duplicate the measurement position i
for those instruments which are position sensitive.

Contrary to the above, the licensee was not obtaining vibration data per !
the testing method described in the ASME Code or the alternate testing

'

described in their inservice testing program submittal to the Commission.
In addition, the locations for vibration measurements were not explicitly ;

marked on the pumps so that measurement position could be duplicated, j

ThisisaSeverityLevelIVviolation.(Supplement 1).

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, you are required to submit to this j

office within thirty days of the date of this Notice a written statement or i

explanation in resly, including for each item of noncompliance: (1)cor- !

rective action ta(en and the results achieved; (2) corrective action to be |

taken to avoid further noncompliance; and (3) the date when full compliance |
will be achieved. Consideration may be given to extending your response time j

for good cause shown. !
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